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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

BRENDA WILLIAMS

Plaintiff,
Civil Action No. 12-319(CCC)

V.

OPINION
COMMISSIONEROF SOCIAL
SECURITY

Defendant.

CECCHI,District Judge.

I. INTRODUCTION

BrendaWilliams (“Plaintiff’) appealsthe final determinationof the Commissionerof the

Social Security Administration (“Commissioner” or “Defendant”) denying Plaintiff disability

benefitsunderthe Social SecurityAct. This Court hasjurisdictionto hearthis matterpursuantto

42 U.S.C. § 405(g). Submissionsmadein supportof and in oppositionto the instantmotion

have been consideredby the Court.’ The Court decidesthis matter without oral argument

pursuantto Rule 78 of theFederalRulesof Civil Procedure.For the reasonsset forth below, the

decisionof AdministrativeLaw JudgeJoelH. Friedman(the“AU”) is affirmed.

IL PROCEDURALHISTORY

A. ProceduralBackground

Courtconsidersanyargumentsnot presentedby thepartiesto bewaived.$ççBrennerv.
Local 514, UnitedBhd. Of Carpenters& Joiners,927 F.2d 1283, 1298 (3d CiTr. 1991) (“It is
well establishedthat failure to raisean issuein thedistrict courtconstitutesa waiverof the
argument.”).
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Plaintiff initially applied for SupplementalSecurity IncomeBenefits(“SSIB”) from the

Social Security Administration (“SSA”) on August 2, 2005, alleging disability beginning on

April 1, 2005, (Tr. 32.) Plaintiffs claim was deniedby the SSA initially on January13, 2006

andagain,uponrequestfor reconsideration,on August 1, 2006. (Tr. 41, 47.) Plaintiff then filed

a requestfor a hearingbefore an AL which was held on January15, 2008. (Tr. 32.) In a

written opinion dated October 31, 2008, the AU determinedthat Plaintiff was not disabled

within themeaningof the Act andthatPlaintiffs impairmentsdid not preventher from returning

to herpastwork. (Tr. 40.)

After the AU’s denial of Plaintiffs claim, the Appeals Council granted Plaintiffs

requestfor review,vacatingtheAU’s decisionof October31, 2008, andremandingthe casefor

further proceedings. (Tr. 77.) On remandfrom the AppealsCouncil, Plaintiff testifiedbefore

the AU on June4, 2010. (Tr. 13.) In a decisiondatedNovember16, 2010, the AU found that

Plaintiff becamedisabledas of January1, 2010 but was not disabledprior to that date. ([ch)
Plaintiff soughtAppeals Council review of the AU’s partially favorabledecision,which was

denied, finding a lack of grounds for review. (Pl.’s Br. 1.) This action was thereafter

commenced.

B. PersonalandEmploymentBackground

Plaintiff is a fifty-eight year old single female with two grown sons, a boyfriend, and

siblingswith whom sheis in regularcontact. (Tr. 18, 19.) Plaintiff hasa GED andtook business

classesat Middlesex County College. (Tr. 394.) Plaintiff hasnot worked in severalyears(Tr.

21) and has “a sporadic work history with extendedperiods of unemployment” (Tr. 337).

Plaintiffs mostrecentrelevantwork was as a cashierfor HomeDepot. (Tr. 457.)

C. Medical Background



1. MedicalEvidencePrior to January1, 2010, theDatetheAU FoundPlaintiff
Disabled

On January4, 2005, Plaintiff visited Plainfield Health Center(PHC) for a routine visit.

(Tr, 165.) PHC hadbeenPlaintiff’s primary careproviderprior to and throughher application

for SSTbenefits. (Tr. 154-83,220, 231-33.) Accordingto thePHC examiner,Plaintiff hada past

medical history of hypertension, valvular heart disease, endocarditis, chronic obstructive

pulmonarydisease,smoking and substanceabusemanagedwith Methadone. (Tr. 165.) On

examination,Plaintiff haddirty conjunctivaanda holosystolieheartmurmur,but overall did not

reveal anything remarkable. (Tr. 165.) Plaintiff’s medicationsincluded Norvasc, Dyazide,

Albuterol inhaler, Vasotec,Naprosyn,and i\’letrogel. (Tr. 165.) Noting that diet and exercise

failed, the examinerprescribedGlyburide for Plaintiff’s diabetesmellitus and recommended

continuedcardiologyfollow-up for Plaintiff’s valvularheartdisease.(Tr. 165.)

On January24, 2005, after complainingof chestpain occurringwith minimal exertion,

Plaintiff wasevaluatedby cardiologist,Dr. SaleemHusain. (Tr. 216.) Thephysicalexamination

revealeda fourth heartsound.2 (Tr. 216.) Plaintiff’s lungswereclearto auscultation,and there

was no evidenceof peripheraledemaof the extremities. (Tr. 216.) A stresstest the previous

year showedno evidenceof ischemia. (Tr. 216.) Dr. Husainnoted that Plaintiff continuedto

smoke. (Tr. 216.) Noting ongoing symptomsof “exertionally related” chestpain symptoms

with multiple risk factors, Dr. Husain recommendeda cardiaccatheterization, (Tr. 216.) The

February9, 2005 follow up on the catheterizationshowednormal coronaryarteries,an aerial

arteriovenousfistula, and preservedleft ventriclesystolicfunction. (Tr, 213.) Dr. Husain’s

functional assessmentindicatedthat Plaintiff had no limitations of physical activities, including

no limitations in lifting, carrying, standing,walking, pushing or pulling, and no postural or

2 S4. or the fourth heartsound,is usuallyassociatedwith cardiacdisease.SeeDorland’s illustrated
Medical Dictionary 750, 1643(30th ed. 2003).
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manipulativelimitations. (Tr. 214.)

On February 17, 2005, Plaintiff, complainingof painful foot corns, saw podiatrist Dr.

Ujjwal K. Datta. (Tr. 161, 162.) Dr. Datta diagnoseddiabetesmellitus with no complications,

acquiredkeratomas,and onychomycosis. (Tr. 161.) Dr. Datta debridedPlaintiff’s keratomas

andeducatedPlaintiff aboutdiabetes.(Tr. 161.)

On May 19, 2005, Plaintiff returnedto PHC complainingof increasedweakness. (Tr.

159.) The examinerlisted diagnosisof hypertension,hepatitisC, and COPD. (Tr. 159.) The

examiner noted that the weaknesswas of questionableetiology, possibly secondary to

Methadone,and orderedlaboratorytests. (Tr. 159; seeTr. 277-78.) On June8, 2005, Plaintiff

returnedto PHC to review test results,at which time the examinerordereda hepatitisC workup.

(Tr. 157.) WhenPlaintiff returnedto the PHC on August 2, 2005, the hepatitisC workup was

not present,but the examinerobservedthat her liver function testswere normal. (Tr. 155;

Tr. 271-73.)

On July 26, 2005, Plaintiff returnedto PHC complainingof low back andright leg pain.

(Tr. 156.) It wasnotedthatPlaintiff previouslyhadsimilar complaintsandthat osteoporosiswas

ruled out. (Tr. 156; seeTr, 279-82.) Plaintiff was prescribedAdvil for her back pain and the

examinerordereda magneticresonanceimaging(MRI) studyof the lumbarspine. (Tr. 156.) On

August23, 2005,Plaintiff returnedto PHC for the resultsof the MRI test,which showedthat the

Plaintiff had an L4-L5 disc bulge with stenosis. (Tr. 154; Tr. 275-76.) The examiner

recommendedmedicalmanagement,physical therapy,and Naproxen,for Plaintiff’s back pain.

(Tr. 154.) It was also noted that Plaintiffs hypertensionwas well controlled. (Tr. 154.) On

August 2, 2005, the date she filed her SSI application, Plaintiff returned to PHC due to a

transientischemicattackovertheweekend,but wasstableduring thevisit. (Tr. 155.)
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On September9, 2005,Plaintiff sawDr. Husainwith the only symptombeinga shortness

of breathwith exertion. (Tr. 211.) Although Dr. Husain initially saw Plaintiff on January24,

2005, for complaintsof chestpain, Plaintiff currentlyonly haddyspneaon exertion,but no chest

pain andclearlungs. (Tr. 212.) Plaintiff’s diagnosesincludedshortnessof breath,hypertension.

coronaryartery disease,and noninsulin dependentdiabetesmellitus. (Tr. 211.) Dr. Husain

indicated that Plaintiff’s August 18, 2004 stress test was negative with mild pulmonary

hypertensionandmild tricuspidregurgitation,but normal left ventricularfunction. (Tr. 213.)

On December21, 2005, Plaintiff reported to PHC that she stoppedtaking her blood

pressuremedicationbecauseof side effects,and the examinerobservedthat Plaintiff hadblood

pressureelevateddueto noncompliance.(Tr. 232.)

On December28, 2005, at the requestof the Commissioner,internistDr. JustinFernando

examinedPlaintiff, who hadcomplainedof asthma,shortnessof breath,heartvalve disease,high

blood pressure,lower back pain radiating to the right leg, and headaches. (Tr. 184.) Dr.

Fernando diagnosed Plaintiff with hepatitis C by history, substanceabuse, a history of

endocarditis,cardiacmurmur,chroniclowerbackpainwith subjectivelumbarradiculopathy,and

hypertension. (Tr. 188.) Dr. Fernandonoted that although she used her Albuterol inhaler

periodically, she had never required hospitalizationor emergencyroom visits for any acute

respiratoryproblems. (Tr. 184.) Plaintiff’s complaintsto Dr. Fernandoincluded shortnessof

breathdue to exertion and back pain aggravatedby prolongedstanding,bending,and lifting.

(Tr. 184.) Her backpain was most acuteupon rising from bed. (Tr. 184.) Shealso complained

of headachesreoccurringon a monthly basisthat sometimeslastedfor days, for which shewas

usingAdvil andNaproxen. (Tr. 185,) The headacheswere claimedto be associatedwith black

spotsbeforeher eyes,dizzinessand nausea. (Tr. 185.) Plaintiff admitted to Dr. Fernandoto
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using intravenousheroinup to April 2004 and that shewas currentlyon a Methadoneprogram,

usingabout 18 mg of Methadonedaily. (Tr. 184.) Plaintiff hadbeensmokingup to four packs

of cigarettesa day,but at the time wasdown to five or six cigarettesperday. (Tr. 185.) Plaintiff

reportedthat she lived alone and that she cooked,cleaned,shopped,as well as showeredand

dressedherself. (Tr. 185.)

A physicalexaminationby Dr. Fernandoshowedthat Plaintiff was ableto squatto about

half of full, had a normal gait, could walk on heelsand toes without difficulty, did not require

help changingor gettingon or off the examinationtableandwasableto rise from a chairwithout

difficulty. (Tr. 186.) Dr. Fernandonoticed a heart murmur and that Plaintiff had some

tendernessto deeppalpationin the right upperabdomenquadrant,and a small, freely reducible

umbilical hernia. (Tr. 186-87.) The physical examination findings were otherwise

unremarkable,indicating full extremitymotor strength,no neurologicmotor or sensorydeficits,

full grip strengthand intact hand and finger dexterity, and normal lungs. (Tr. 186-87.) Dr.

Fernando’snotesindicatedthat, “except for a partially performedsquatand a poorly performed

leg raisingtest,” no objectivelimitations wereevidentfrom theexamination. (Tr. 188.)

On January9, 2006, at the requestof the Commissioner,Dr. W. Wells, a Stateagency

review physician,uponreview of the Plaintiff, concludedthat shecould standandwalk six hours

perday, andlift twenty-fivepoundsfrequentlyandfifty poundsoccasionally. (Tr. 324.)

FromJanuary17 to February14, 2006,Plaintiff receivedphysicaltherapyat Muhlenberg

RegionalMedical Center. (Tr. 221; eeTr. 221-29.) Upon discharge,Plaintiff reportedherpain

level was0 out of 10, althoughshesometimeshadtightnessin her legs. (Tr. 221.) In a progress

reportdatedFebruary2, 2006, the physicaltherapistindicatedthat Plaintiff was ableto perform

all activitiesof daily living independently.(Tr. 224.)
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On March 7, 2006,Plaintiff returnedto PHC complainingof mild backdiscomfort,which

had grown worse over the previous month. (Tr. 220.) On examination, Plaintiff had

paravertebralpoint tendernessand leg-raising to forty-five degrees. (Tr. 220.) The visit

otherwiseshowedno significantchanges.(Tr. 220.)

On March 13, 2006, Plaintiff was evaluatedby Dr. Mark Friedman for purposesof

determiningmedical eligibility to receive SSI benefits. (Tr. 289-91; see Tr. 297, 424-25.)

Plaintiff complainedof shortnessof breath,anxiety, and depression. (Tr. 289.) Dr. Friedman’s

generalphysical examinationshowednothing unremarkable,including lungs that were clear to

auscultationand percussion. (Tr. 289.) An examinationof the lumbar spine showedvertebral

tenderness,paravertebralspasm,and a reducedrangeof motion. (Tr. 290.) Plaintiff also had a

reducedrangeof motion of the right knee,but otherwisenormalmusclestrength,sensation,and

reflexes. (Tr. 290.) Dr. Friedmannoted that Plaintiff had restrictedlower back motion and

impairment in lifling and carrying, but that Plaintiff’s physical examinationdid not show

significantorthopedicdifficulties. (Tr. 290-91.) Therewas evidenceof cardiacvasculardisease

andhypertension.(Tr. 291.)

On May 4, 2006, at the requestof the Commissioner,Plaintiff was examinedby

psychiatristDr. Aryeh Klahr. (Tr. 292-96.) In addition to her physical symptoms,Plaintiff

complainedof depression,daily anxiety attacks,and memoryproblems. (Tr. 292.) Dr. Klahr

noted that Plaintiff spendsmost of her time sitting at home; she feels sad, cries and becomes

afraid and has gainedtwenty pounds. (Tr. 292-93.) Shedenieddetox or rehabilitation,as well

as psychiatric hospitalizationsor suicide attempts. (Tr. 293.) Plaintiff stated she had been

“using drugsoff andon for the pastten years” andreportedthat shehadpreviouslyrelapsedon

usingheroin,but had not usedsinceApril 2005. (Tr. 293.) Plaintiff also reportedsmokingfive
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to sevencigarettesdaily andthat shehadhepatitisC. (Tr. 293.)

The results of Plaintiff’s mental examination were unremarkable,showing normal

speech,intact attentionand concentration,averageintelligence,and fair judgnient. (Tr. 294-95.)

Dr. Klahr diagnosedchronicsevereopioid dependence,chronicseverenicotinedependence,and

depressivedisorder not otherwise specified (NOS). (Tr. 295.) Dr. Klahr indicated that if

Plaintiff maintainedabstinence,shecould follow andunderstandsimpleinstructionsandperform

simple tasksin a structuredenvironmentwith a sympatheticsupervisor. (Tr. 295.) The doctor

indicated that Plaintiff “may have difficulty with more complex tasks in a competitivework

environment,”but that this shouldimprovewith treatment. (Tr. 295.)

On July 6, 2006, Plaintiff went to UCPC BehavioralHealthcarefor complaintsof panic

and anxiety attacks,which beganthe previousyear. (Tr. 328.) Plaintiff reportedthat shewas

being treatedfor hypertension,diabetes,asthma,and coronaryheart disease. (Tr. 333.) She

reportedthat shewas treatedfor anxietyby her primary careprovider, and that her medications

includedClonazepam. (Tr. 329, 337.) Plaintiff deniedsubstanceabuse. (Tr. 329.) Plaintiff

statedthat her recreationalactivities were sleepingandwatchingtelevision. (Tr. 332.) Plaintiff

reportedthat she had not worked for severalyears,and that shehas “had it with work.” (Tr.

331.)

Plaintiff’s mental examinationindicateddefectivememory. fair insight, mildly impaired

judgment,and suicidal ideationwithout a plan. (Tr. 335.) The remainderof the examination

revealednothingout of the ordinary. (Tr, 335.) The examininglicensedprofessionalcounselor

diagnosedanxietydisorder,anda single episodeof majordepressivedisorder. (Tr. 336.) It was

recommendedthat Plaintiff receiveindividual therapy,a psychiatricevaluation,andmedications.

(Tr, 337,)
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On July 31, 2006, at the requestof the Commissioner,Dr. Thomas Harding, a State

agencypsychologist, reviewedthe evidencein Plaintiffs caseand completedan assessment.

(Tr. 306-23.) Dr. Hardingindicatedthat Plaintiff had mildrestrictionof activitiesof daily living,

moderate difficulties in maintaining social functioning and in maintaining concentration,

persistence,or pace. (Tr. 320.) He also indicated that there was insufficient evidenceto

determinewhetherPlaintiff hadrepeatedepisodesof “deteriorationof extendedduration.”3(Tr,

320.) Dr. Harding adoptedthe opinion of Dr. Klahr, the consultativeexaminer,that Plaintiff

could performwork-relatedactivitieswith some limitations.(Tr. 308; seeTr. 295.)

On February13, 2008,also at the requestof the Commissioner,internist Dr. RambhaiC.

Patel performeda consultativeexaminationon Plaintiff. (Tr. 344-46.) Plaintiffs complaints

includedheadachesanddizzinesstwo to three timespermonth,daily chestpain,which lastedup

to twenty minutesat a time, and daily asthmaticattacks,the last of which had occurredfour

months prior. (Tr. 344.) She also reported daily anxiety attacks, somewhathelped by

Clonazepam,and shortnessof breath, for which she used a Proventil inhaler. (Tr. 344.)

Additionally, Plaintiff complainedof pain and numbnessin the right elbow and the right hand,

which Plaintiff claimedwasexacerbatedby lifting morethanfive pounds. (Tr. 345.)

On physicalexamination,Plaintiff demonstratedsomerangeof motion restrictionsin the

shoulders,hips and knees,but the rest of the resultswere unremarkable, (Tr. 345.) Thetest

showedPlaintiff had a normal gait, normal breathing,no edemain the lower extremities,no

gross neurologicaldeficits, and normal grip in both hands, (Tr. 345.) Dr. Patel diagnosed

hypertension.atypical chestpain, anxiety and depressionsyndrome,chronic asthmaby history,

and possible arthritis in the right elbow and right hand. (Tr. 346.) Dr. Patel’s evaluation

The Commissioner’s regulationsevaluatementalimpairmentswith respectto four broadareas:1)
activitiesof daily living; 2) social functioning; 3) concentration,persistence,or pace;and4) episodesof
deterioration.20 C,F.R. §416.920a.
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indicatedthat Plaintiff could occasionallylift and carry up to ten pounds,and was able to sit,

stand,or walk eight hours in an eight-hourworkday, but was limited to occasionaluseof the

right handfor reaching,handling, fingering, feeling and pushingor pulling. (Tr, 347-49.) Dr.

Patel further indicatedthat Plaintiff could occasionallyclimb stairs,ramps,ladders,or scaffolds,

and occasionallybalance,stoop, kneel, crouch, and crawl. (Tr. 350.) Additionally, Plaintiff

could frequently use both feet to operate foot controls, could occasionallyoperatea motor

vehicle and be exposedto unprotectedheights,moving mechanicalparts,humidity, pulmonary

irritants, extremecold or heat, and vibrations. (Tr. 349, 351.) Shewas limited to moderateor

office-like exposureto noise. (Tr. 351.)

2. MedicalEvidenceSubsequentto January1, 2010, theDatetheAU FoundPlaintiff
Disabled

On June 22, 2010, Dr. Pate! performed another consultativeexamination. Plaintiff

claimed disability due to lower back pain, for which she is taking an unknown medication;

asthma, for which she uses a Ventolin inhaler; diabetesmellitus, for which she is taking

metformin twice a day; hypertension,which causesdizzinessand headaches;and sharp chest

pain precipitatedby walking lessthanoneblock, lastingfrom five to ten minutes. (Tr. 3 56-57.)

Plaintiff has a history of hepatitis C and a history of heroin use. (Tr. 357.) On physical

examination,Plaintiff had a “questionableslightly diminished” sensationof lower extremities.

(Tr. 358.) Dr. Patel’s functional assessmentlimited Plaintiff to sitting for onehour and standing

or walking for thirty minutesin an eight-hourday. (Tr. 368.)

On July 22, 2010, psychologist Dr. Emesto L. Perdomo, at the request of the

Commissioner,performeda psychologicalevaluation. (Tr. 372-79.) Plaintiff complainedof

panic attacks, feelings of sadness,lack of interest, lack of motivation, tiredness,and lack of

energy. (Tr. 373.) The resultsof the intellectualassessmentwerenormal. (Tr. 373.) The test
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showed scoresin the upper level of the borderline range of intellectual functioning, but Dr.

Perdomonotedthat Plaintiff’s “true ability may be a little more toward the low averagerange.”

(Tr. 373-74.) Dr. Perdomo’sassessmentindicatedthat Plaintiff had no limitations in ability to

understand,carry out, or make judgmentson simple instructions and decisions, with mild

limitations for complexinstructionsanddecisions. (Tr. 377.) Plaintiff hadmoderatelimitations

for interacting appropriatelywith the public, supervisors,and co-workers,but no significant

mental deficiency. (Tr. 378.) However, Dr. Perdomonoted that Plaintiffs history of panic

attacks,depression,andvariousmedicalproblemsmay interferewith her ability to function in a

job. (Tr. 378.)

III. DISCUSSION

A. Standardof Review

This Court has jurisdiction to review the Commissioner’sdecisionunder 42 U.S.C. §

405(g). It is not “empoweredto weigh the evidenceor substituteits conclusionsfor thoseof the

fact-finder” but must give deferenceto the administrativefindings. Williams v. Sullivan, 970

F.2d 1178, 1182 (3d Cir. 1992); see also 42 U.S.C. §405(g). Nevertheless,the Court must

“scrutinizethe recordas a whole to determinewhetherthe conclusionsreachedarerational” and

supportedby substantialevidence. Gober v. Matthews, 574 F.2d 772, 776 (3d Cir. 1978)

(citationsomitted). Substantialevidenceis “more than a mere scintilla” and is “such relevant

evidenceas a reasonablemind might acceptas adequateto supporta conclusion,” Richardsonv.

Perales,402 U.S. 389, 401, 91 S. Ct. 1420, 28 L.Ed.2d 842 (1971) (citation omitted). If the

factual record is adequatelydeveloped,substantialevidence“may be ‘somethingless than the

weight of the evidence,and the possibility of drawing two inconsistentconclusionsfrom the

evidence does not prevent an administrative agency’s finding from being supported by
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substantialevidence.” Danielsv. Astrue, No. 4:08-1676,2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 32110, at *7

(M.D. Pa,Apr. 15, 2009) (quotingConsolov. Fed. Mar. Comm’n, 383 U.S. 607, 620 (1966)).

This Court maynot setasidetheAU’s decisionmerelybecauseit would havecometo a

different conclusion. Cruz v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec., 244 Fed. Appx. 475, 479 (3d Cir. 2007)

(citing Hartranfl v. Apfel, 181 F.3d 358, 360 (3d Cir. 1999)). However, “where there is

conflicting evidence,the AU mustexplainwhich evidencehe acceptsandwhich he rejects,and

the reasonsfor that determination.” Cruz, 244 Fed. Appx. at 479 (citing Hargenraderv.

Califano, 575 F.2d 434, 437 (3d Cir. 1978)). Where the AU has rejectedcompetentmedical

evidence,the AU must adequatelyexplain his reasonsand provide the rationalebehind his

decision. SeeBrewsterv. Heckler, 786 F.2d 581, 585 (3d Cir. 1986). Given the totality of the

evidence,including objective medical facts, diagnosesand medical opinions, and subjective

evidenceof pain, the reviewing court mustdeterminewhetherthe AU’s decisionis adequately

supported. $çç Curtain v. Harris, 508 F. Supp. 791, 793 (D.N.J. 1981). Generally,medical

opinions consistentwith other evidenceare given more weight whereasopinions inconsistent

with the evidenceor with themselvesaresubjectto additionalscrutinyagainstthe entire record.

20 C.F.R. §416.927. Overall, the substantialevidencestandardis a deferential standardof

review, which requiresdeferenceto inferencesdrawn by the AU from the facts, if they are

supportedby substantialevidence, Schaudeckv. Comm’r of Soc. Sec. Admin., 181 F.3d 429,

431 (3d Cir. 1999).

B. DeterminingDisability

Pursuantto the Social Security Act, to receive SSIB, a claimantmust show that he is

disabledby demonstratingthat he is unable to “engagein any substantialgainful activity by

reasonof any medically determinablephysical or mental impairmentwhich can be expectedto
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result in deathor which has lastedor canbe expectedto last for a continuousperiodof not less

than twelve months.” 42 U.S.C. § 1382c(a)(3)(A). Taking into accountthe claimant’s age,

education,and work experience,disability will be evaluatedby the claimant’sability to engage

in his previoustork or any other form of substantialgainful activity existing in the national

economy. 42 U.S.C. § 1382c(aX3)(B). Thus, the claimant’s physical or mental impairments

must be “of such severity that he is not only unable to do his previous work but cannot,

consideringhis age, education,and work experience,engagein any other kind of substantial

gainful work which exists in the national economy . . . .“ Id. Impairmentsthat affect the

claimant’s “ability to meet the strengthdemandsof jobs” with respectto “sitting, standing,

walking, lifting, carrying,pushing,andpulling” are consideredexertionallimitations. 20 C.F.R.

§ 416.969a(a)-(b);Sykesv. Apfel, 228 F.3d259, 263 (3d Cir. 2000). All other impairmentsare

considerednonexertional. 20 C.F.R. § 416.969a(a),(c); Sykes, 228 F.3d at 263. Decisions

regardingdisability will be made individually and will be basedon evidenceadducedat a

hearing. Sykes, 228 F.3d at 262 (citing Heckler v. Campbell,461 U.S. 458, 467, 103 S. Ct.

1952, 76, L.Ed.2d66 (1983)). Congresshasestablishedthe type of evidencenecessaryto prove

the existenceof a disabling impairmentby defining a physical or mental impairment as “an

impairmentthat resultsfrom anatomical,or psychologicalabnormalitieswhich aredemonstrable

by medically acceptableclinical and laboratorydiagnostictechniques.”42 U.S.C. § 423(d)(3),

1 382c(a)(3)(C).

The SSA follows a five-step sequentialevaluationto determinewhether a claimant is

disabled. 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520,416.920. The evaluationwill continue through each step

unlessit can be determinedat any point that the claimant is or is not disabled, 20 C.F.R. §

404.1520(a)(4),4l6.920(a)(4). The claimant bearsthe burdenof proof at stepsone. two, and
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four, upon which the burdenshifis to the Commissionerat step five. Sykes,228 F.3d at 263.

Neitherpartybearstheburdenat stepthree. at 263, n.2.

At stepone, the claimant’swork activity is assessed,and the claimantmustdemonstrate

that he is not engaging in substantial gainful activity. 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(a)(4)(i),

416.920(a)(4)(i). An individual is engaging in substantialgainful activity if he is doing

significantphysicalor mentalactivities for payor profit. 20 C.F.R.§ 404.1572,416.972. If the

claimantis engagedin substantialgainful activity, he will be found not disabledand the analysis

will stop, regardlessof claimant’s medical condition, age, education,or work experience. 20

C.F.R. § 404.1520(b), 416.920(b). If the claimant is not engaging in substantialgainful

activity, theanalysisproceedsto the secondstep.

At step two, the claimant must show he has a medically determinable“severe”

impairmentor a combinationof impairmentsthat is “severe.” 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(a)(4)(ii).

An impairmentis severewhenit significantly limits an individual’s physicalor mentalability to

perform basic work activities. 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(c),416.920(c). It is not severewhen

medicalevidenceshowsonly a slight abnormalityor minimal effect on an individual’s ability to

work. SeeLeonardov. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.,No. 101498,2010 WL 4747173,at *4 (D.N.J.

2010). If the claimant doesnot have a medically determinablesevereimpairment,he is not

disabled. 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(a)(4)(ii)& (c), 416.920(a)(4)(ii)& (c). If the claimanthas a

severeimpairment,theanalysisproceedsto the third step.

At step three, the AU must determine,basedon the medical evidence,whether the

claimant’s impairment matchesor is equivalent to a listed impairment found in the Social

SecurityRegulations’“Listing of Impairments”found in 20 C,F,R, § 404. SubpartP, Appendix

1. 20 C.F.R. §S 404.1520(a)(4)(iii), 4l6.920(a)(4)(iii), If the impairments are the same or

14



equivalentto thoselisted, the claimantis persedisabled. 20 C.F.R. §‘ 404.1520(d),416.920(d);

Burnett v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.,220 F.3d 112. 119 (3d Cir. 2000). At this point, the AU must

set forth the reasonsfor his findings. Burnett, 220 F.3d at 119. The Third Circuit requiresthe

AU to identify the relevantlistings and explainhis reasoningusing the evidence. Id. Simple

conclusoryremarks will not suffice and will leave the ALl’s decision “beyond meaningful

judicial review.”

Whenthe claimantdoesnot suffer from a listed impairmentor an equivalent,the analysis

proceedsto step four. At step four, the AU must determinewhetherthe claimant’s residual

functioning capacity (“RFC”) enableshim to perform his past relevant work. 20 C.F.R.

§ § 404.1520(a)(4)(ix), 416.920(a)(4)(iv). This step involves three sub-steps:(1) the ALl must

makespecificfindings of fact asto the claimant’sRFC; (2) theAU mustmakefindings asto the

physical and mental demandsof the claimant’s past relevant work; and (3) the ALl must

comparethe RFC to the pastrelevantwork to determinewhetherthe claimanthasthe capability

to performthe pastrelevantwork. Burnett,220 F.3d at 120. The SSA often classifiesRFC and

pastwork by physicalexertionrequirementsfrom “sedentary”to “very heavywork.” Seeid.; 20

C.F.Tr. § § 404.1567,404.967. If the claimantcanperformhis pastwork, the AU will find that

he is not disabled. 20 C,F,R. § 404.1520(f), 416.920(f). If the claimant lacks the RFC to

performany work he hasdonein thepast,theanalysisproceedsto the fifth and final step.

At step five, the Commissionermust show that, basedon the claimant’s RFC and other

vocationalfactors,thereis a significant amountof otherwork in the nationaleconomythat the

claimantcanperform. 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(a)(4)(v),416.920(a)(4)(v).During this final step,

the burdenlies with the government. SeeRutherfordv. Barnhart. 399 F.3d 546, 551 (3d Cir.

2005);$ykes,228 F,3dat 263. If the Commissionercannotshowtherearea significantnumber
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of otherjobs for the claimant in the nationaleconomy,then the claimantis disabled. 20 C.F.R,

§ § 404,1520(a)(4)(ix),416.920(a)(4)(iv).

IV. DISCUSSION

A. Summaryof theAU’s Findings

After reviewing all of the evidencein the record, the AU determinedthat Plaintiff was

disabledas of January1, 2010. (Tr. 25-26.> The AU arrived at his decisionby following the

requiredfive-stepsequentialanalysis.

At stepone, the AU found that Plaintiff had not engagedin substantialgainful activity

since April 1, 2005, the allegedonsetdate of her disability. (Tr. 16.) At step two, the AU

concluded that Plaintiff had the following severe impairments: degenerativedisc disease,

depression,anxiety, borderline intellectual functioning, asthma,diabetes,hypertension,and a

history of substanceabuse. (jçj) Although Plaintiff had beendiagnosedwith Hepatitis C and

claimedto havefrequentheadaches,the AU found that the evidencedid not supporta finding

that either of these ailments resulted in limitations on Plaintiff’s ability to do basic work

activities. (j at 16.) Therefore,the AU found that they are not severeimpairments. (Id. at

16.)

The AU thenproceededto stepthree,wherehe comparedthe Plaintiff’s impairmentsto

the listing in section1.04 for Vusculoske1etalImpairments. The AU found that Plaintiff did not

havean impairment,or a combinationof impairments,that meetor medicallyequalsoneof the

listed impairmentsin 20 CFR Part 404, SubpartP, Appendix 1 (20 CFR. § 416920(d), §

416.925and § 416.926). (Tr. 16.)

Consideringthe evidencein the record, the AU found that prior to January1. 2010,

Plaintiff had the residual functioning capacity(“RFC”) to perform light work, as defined in 20
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C.F,R. § 416.967(b),with the exceptionthat “she had to avoid concentratedexposureto dust,

smoke, fumes and other respiratoryirritants, as well as temperatureextremesdue to asthma.”

(Tr. 19) At step four, consideringthe testimonyof a vocationalexpert, the AU concludedthat

prior to January1, 2010, Plaintiffs RFC would not precludeher from performingpastrelevant

work as a cashier. (Tr. 25.) The AU thereforedeterminedthat prior to January 1, 2010,

Plaintiff was not disabledwithin the meaningof the Act. (Tr. 25-26.) However, the AU

concluded that beginning on January 1, 2010, Plaintiffs RFC for less than sedentarywork

precludedher from performing her past relevant work or other work existing in significant

numbersin the nationaleconomy. (Tr. 25-26.)

B. Analysis

The AU’s decisionprovides that Plaintiff was not disabledprior to January1, 2010.

Plaintiffs challengeto the AU’s decisionis incorrect for severalreasons. Plaintiff first argues

that the AU’s decision fails to acknowledgethat her hepatitis C and headachesare severe

impairments. (Pl.’s Br. 11.) Next, Plaintiff assertsthat the AU failed to consider her

impairmentsin combinationto determinewhethershe medically equaleda listed impairment.

(P1.‘s Br, 11.) Plaintiff alsoarguesthat the AU waserroneousin his RFC assessmentaswell as

in his finding that Plaintiff could performpastrelevantwork. (Pl.’s Br. 11.) Defendantopposes

all of Plaintiffs argumentsandadditionallyassertsthat Plaintiffs brief fails to conformto Local

Civil Rule 9,1, The Court will first addressDefendant’sargumentregardingPlaintiffs brief.

1. The Scopeof the court‘s Review is Limited to the Parties’ Brief and the
ALl’s FinalDecision.

The Commissionerarguesthat Plaintiff’s brief fails to adhereto Local Civil Rule 9.1.

(Def.’s Br. 17.) Specifically,the Commissionercontendsthat Plaintiffs brief doesnot haveany

discerniblestructure,doesnot clearly identify eachof her arguments,and erroneouslyrequests
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that the Court review the AU’s previousdecisiondatedOctober31, 2008 in additionto the final

decisiondatedNovember16, 2010,which is the subjectof judicial review in this case. (Def.’s

Br. 18.) Further, the Commissionerarguesthat Plaintiff improperlyattemptsto incorporateby

referencethe argumentsshe put forth to the Appeals Council as well as those arguments

containedin her statementof contentions,filed pursuantto Local Civil Rule 9.1(d). (Def. ‘s Br.

18; seePl.’s Br. 8-17.)

Under Local Civil Rule 9.1, “Plaintiff’s brief shall contain. . . a statementof facts with

referenceto the administrativerecord” and “an argument. . . divided into sectionsseparately

treatingeachissueand must set forth Plaintiff’s argumentswith respectto the issuespresented

andthe reasonstherefore. . . .“ L. Civ. R. 9.l(e)(5). Furthermore,the Court’s review is limited

to determiningwhetherthe AU’s final decisionis supportedby substantialevidence. Hattonv.

Comm’r of Soc. Sec., 131 F. App’x 877, 878 (3d Cir. 2005) (citing 42 U.S.C. § 405(g)). Here,

Plaintiff improperlyrequeststhat the Court review argumentsthat arenot statedwithin herbrief.

(SeePl,’s Br. 9-10, 13, 16.) While the Court has reviewedthe entire record in coming to its

decision,the Court will hereinfocus its review on the argumentspresentedin the parties’ briefs

andwill determineonly whetherthe AU’s final decisionis supportedby substantialevidence.

2. The AIJ ProperlyDeterminedThat Plaintiff’s HeadachesandHepatitis C
WereNot SevereImpairments.

The AU determinedthat Plaintiff’s degenerativedisc disease,depression,anxiety,

borderline intellectual functioning, asthma. diabetes,hypertension,and history of substance

abusewere severeimpairments. (Tr, 16.) Plaintiff allegesthat the AU failed to designateher

hepatitisC and headachesas severeimpairmentsat step two. (PL’s Br, 11.) As discussed,the

claimantbearsthe burdenof proofat steptwo. Sykes,228 F.3d at 263. Steptwo is considereda

“threshold step” in which the AU determineswhether the claimant has a medically severe
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impairmentor combinationof impairments. Bowenv. Yuckert,482 U.S. 137, 140-41, 107 5. Ct.

2287, 96 L. Ed. 119 (1987); Social SecurityRuling (SSR) 86-8, 1986 SSRLEXIS 15, at *6.7.

An impairmentis severewhen it significantly limits an individual’s physicalor mentalability to

perform basic work activities. 20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(c),416.920(c). It is not severewhen

medicalevidenceshowsonly a slight abnormalityor minimal effect on an individual’s ability to

work. SeeLeonardov. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.,No. 10-1498,2010 WL 4747173,at *4 (D.NJ.

2010).

Other than stating that she was diagnosedwith hepatitis C and that she suffers from

headaches,Plaintiff providedno evidenceor explanationas to how theseconditionshad more

thana minimal effect on her ability to work. ($Pl.’s Br. 11.) Plaintiff claimsthatherhepatitis

C is “a potentiallyfatal virus thathasdamagedher liver as shownby liver function studies,”but

does not cite to any medical evidencein the record to support a finding that it is a severe

impairment. (Pl.’s Br. 11.) In fact, the only evidencerelatedto Plaintiff’s hepatitisC, as noted

by the AU, was a record from August 2, 2005, that statedthat Plaintiff’s liver function tests

were normal, (Tr. 16, 155, 271-73.) Furthermore,in 2006, Plaintiff herselfreportedthat she

believedher “enzymes[were] normal.” (Tr. 293.)

One laboratory test does in fact indicate that Plaintiff has elevated liver enzymes.

However, this test was submittedonly to the Appeals Council, afler the AU renderedhis

decision,and cannotbe usedto arguethat the AU’s decisionwas not supportedby substantial

evidence. (Tr. 380, 382.) See Chandlerv. Comm’r of Soc. Sec., 667 F.3d 356, 360 (3d Cir.

2011) (“[R]emand basedon new evidenceis only appropriatewhere the claimant showsgood

causewhy that evidencewasnot procuredor presentedbeforetheAU’s decision.”). Evenif the

Court consideredthe laboratorytest submittedby Plaintiff, it is not enoughto concludethat the
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AU’s decisionwas not supportedby substantialevidence. Plaintiff testified that shedoesnot

takeanymedicationfor hepatitisC, nor doesshereceiveany treatmentfor the conditionitself or

for any apparentrelatedconditions. (Tr. 16.) Accordingly. the AU had no evidentiarybasisto

concludethat this allegedimpairmentwassevere.

Similarly, the AU properly rejectedPlaintiff’s headachesas a severeimpairmentfrom

his analysisat step two. While Plaintiff complainedof headachesin a few of her consultative

examinations(Tr. 184-85,344), therecorddoesnot indicatethat therewasany treatmentfor this

condition or that it limited her work activities. As such, Plaintiff did not provide sufficient

evidencethat her headacheshadmore than a minimal effect on her ability to work and the AU

wasthereforecorrectin rejectingit as a severeimpairment. The Court affirms the AU’s finding

at steptwo.

3. The AU Properly Considered the Combined Effects of Plaintiff’s
Impairments.

At stepthree,the AU found that Plaintiffs impairmentsdid not meetor medicallyequal

a listed impairmentin 20 C.F.R. Part404, SubpartP, Appendix 1. (Tr. 16-18.) Plaintiff asserts

that the AU failed to considerher impairments in combination to determinewhether she

medicallyequaleda listed impairment. (Pl.’s Br. 11.)

The AU concluded that Plaintiff “has not had an impairment or combination of

impairmentsthat meetsor medically equalsone of the listed impairments.” (Tr, 16.) In his

analysis, the AU compared Plaintiffs impairments to the listings for viusculoske1etal

Impairments(1.04): Asthma(3.03B. 3.02A); Diabetes(9.08); Hypertension(4.03); and Nental

Disorders(12.04, 12,06, 12.09) and determinedthat they did not meet the requiredcriteria for

any of those listings. (Tr. 16-18.) The AU conducteda thorough analysisof each listing,

detailing how the Plaintiffs medical recordsrelatedto eachof her impairments. (Id.) Despite
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Plaintiff’s contentionthat the AU “never even claims to considerall of thoseimpairmentsin

concert,”theAU doesin fact statethat the combinationof Plaintiff’s impairmentsdoesnot meet

or medically equal any of the listed impairments. (Tr, 16, 17.) “Indeed, where the AU has

indicated that impairmentshave been consideredin combination, there is no reasonnot to

believethat the AU did so.” Gaineyv. Astrue, No. 10-1912,2011 WL 1560865,at *12 (D.N.J.

Apr. 25, 2011) (quoting Morrison v, Comm’r of Soc. Sec., 268 F. App’x 186, 189 (3d Cir.

2008)). Moreover,Plaintiff hasnot pointedto anyevidencein therecordwhich suggeststhather

impairmentsrise to the level of severityequivalentto that of a listed impairment. Therefore,the

Court finds that the AU properly consideredthe combinedeffects of Plaintiff’s impairments

when determiningif they medicallyequala listed impairment. The AU’s findings at stepthree

areaffirmed.

4. TheAU’s RFCAssessmentis Supportedby SubstantialEvidence.

Prior to consideringstep four,the AU mustdeterminethe claimant’sresidualfunctional

capacity(“RFC”). See20 C.F.R. § 416.920(e);Kangasv. Bowen, 823 F.2d 775, 777 (3d Cir.

1987). Plaintiff hasthe burdenof presentingevidencethat shedid not havethe RFC to perform

any substantialgainful activity. See42 U.S.C. § 423(d)(5)(A), 1382c(a)(3)(H)(i);20 C.F.R. §

416.912(c). Here, the AU found that prior to January1, 2010, the Plaintiff had the RFC to

perform light work exceptthat shehad to avoid concentratedexposureto dust, smoke, fumes,

andotherrespiratoryirritants, aswell as temperatureextremesdue to asthma. (Tr. 19.) Further,

the AU determinedthat due to her mental impairments,she was limited to simple, unskilled,

routinejobs. (Tr, 19.)

Plaintiff assertsthat the AU erredin his assessmentof Plaintiff’s RFC. (Pl.’s Br. 8-17.)

In particular,Plaintiff makesthe following arguments:(1) that the AU failed to considerher
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pulmonaryrestrictionsandthe issueswith her right hand;(23 that the AU failed to considerthat

her back and leg pain limit her ability to standfor long hours; (3) that the AU erredin finding

that Plaintiff can perform simple routine/repetitivetasks; (4) that Plaintiffs mental impairment

existedearlierthanthe AU concluded;and(5) that theAU failed to describeherRFC “in terms

of specificwork limitations and/orcapabilitieson a ‘function by functionbasis.” (Pl.’s Br, 16.)

The Court finds that the AU adequatelyconsideredPlaintiffs asthmaand pulmonary

restrictionsin his assessmentof Plaintiffs RFC. In his analysis,the AU specificallynotedthat

Plaintiff wasprescribedvariousasthmamedications,(Tr. 20), but that therewereno emergency

room visits for her condition and her lungs were clear and without wheezing,rales,or rhonchi,

(Id.). The AU alsoobservedthatPlaintiff continuedto smokecigarettesdespitebeinginstructed

to cut down by Dr. Walsh. (j4J Further,the recordshowsthat at a consultativeexamin 2004,

Dr. Shafound that Plaintiffs lungswereclear,andagaincounseledPlaintiff to quit smoking,but

shesaid shewas “not readyto quit yet.” (Id.) On December28, 2005, Dr. Fernandofound that

Plaintiffs pulmonary function studieswere normal and that her chestx-ray showedno active

lung disease.

In August 2004, Plaintiffs treatingcardiologistDr. Husainfound that shehad shortness

of breathupon exertion. (Tr. 20-21.) Plaintiff undenventa stresstestat that time, the resultsof

which were normal. (Id.) Dr. Husain reported that Plaintiff experiencedchest pain upon

minimal exertion,but that shecontinuedto smokecigarettes. (Id.) In February2005, Plaintiff

had a cardiaccatheterizationthat revealednormal coronaryarteries,atrial fistula, andpreserved

left ventricularsystolic function. () Dr. Husainfound that Plaintiff had no limitations in her

ability to work. (Id. at 21.) In January2006, Plaintiff underwenta stresstest which showedno

chestpainsor EKG changesthat would suggestmyocardialischemia. (Tr. 21.) Consideringthe
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medical record, the AU properly concludedthat due to Plaintiff’s asthma,she had to avoid

concentratedexposure to dust, smoke, fumes and other respiratory irritants, as well as

temperatureextremes,Therefore,theCourt affirms theAU’s decisionon this point.

The Court also finds that the AU gave sufficient considerationto Plaintiffs complaint

that shehadpain in her right elbow and right hand. (Tr. 22-23.) The AU notedthat Dr. Patel

examinedPlaintiff on February13, 2008,anddespitePlaintiffs complaints,found that therewas

no evidenceof swelling in her handsor interphalangealjoints. (çj) Her grip strengthwas

normal. (Id.) The rangeof motion in both her left and right shoulderswas approximatelythe

same. (Id.) During Dr. Patel’sexamination,Plaintiff did not complainof backpain andprior to

that time, it appearsfrom therecordthatshedid not complainof pain in herright arm. (Tr. 23.)

Similarly, with regard to Plaintiffs back and leg pain, the AU noted that in 2005,

Plaintiff hadan MRI of her lumbarspinethat showedL4-U5 disc bulgesandshewasreferredfor

physical therapyandprescribedNaproxenfor pain. (Tr. 21-22.) A physicalexaminationby Dr.

Fernandoindicatedthat shehad full motor strengthof both the upperand lower extremities,had

a normal gait andstation,anddid not needan assistivedevice. (Tr. 22.) Plaintiff hasneverbeen

hospitalizedfor thesecomplaintsandshetestifiedthat sheonly usesAdvil for herbackpain and

headaches.(Tr. 22.) The AU adequatelyconsideredPlaintiffs complaintsregardingthe issues

shehaswith herright arm aswell asherbackandleg pain. Therefore,theAU’s decisionnot to

includelimitations associatedwith theseailmentsis supportedby substantialevidence.

Plaintiff also argues that the AU erred in finding that Plaintiff can perform simple

routineandrepetitivetasks. (Pl.’s Br. 13.) Plaintiff claimsthat the “[Tjhird Circuit haslong ago

eliminatedthis utilitarian formulaby which everyonecanwork,” but doesnot offer any caselaw

to support this proposition. (Pl.’s Br. 13.) The subject regulationsidentify “understanding,
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carrying out, and rememberingsimple instructions”as an exampleof basicwork activity. 20

C.F,R. § 416.921. Moreover,“[cjourts haveconsistentlyheld that the limitation, ‘simple tasks,’

is the equivalentof the ability to perform ‘simple duties’ within the definition of unskilled

work.” Dahlhausv. Astrue,No. 11-4811,2012 WL 3283532,at *13 (D.N,J. Aug. 10, 2012).

The medical and other opinions in the record support a finding that Plaintiff could

perform light work in simple, unskilled, routine jobs without concentratedexposure to

respiratoryirritants and temperatureextremes. (Tr. 19, 23.) Dr. Klahr and Dr. Perdomoboth

found that Plaintiff could understandand carry out simple tasksor instructions. (Tr. 295, 377.)

Only Dr. Patelopinedthat Plaintiff hadslightly greaterrestrictionsthantherequirementsof light

work. (Tr. 347-52.) The AU consideredDr. Patel’s opinion, but relied on the other, more

consistentopinionsin the record. (Tr. 19, 23.) Diaz v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec.,577 F.3d 500,

505-06 (3d. Cir. 2009) (“In evaluatingmedical reports, the AU is free to choosethe medical

opinion of one doctor over that of another.”) Therefore,the AU’s finding that Plaintiff could

perform“simple tasks”prior to January1, 2010,is supportedby substantialevidence.

Plaintiff furtherclaimsthathermentalimpairmentexistedearlierthanthe AU concluded

(Pl.’s Br. 17) and that she was found to suffer “moderate limitations” in concentration,

persistenceand paceand therefore,cannotring items at a checkoutline (Pl.’s Br. 13-14.). The

AU adequately considered Plaintiffs mental impairments, noting that according to an

examinationin 2006, shecomplainedof depression,anxiety, and memoryproblems,but that she

doesnot seea psychiatristandhasneverbeenhospitalizedfor theseproblems. (Tr. 21.) Further.

the examiner found that while Plaintiff was depressedand had possiblepanic disorder and

agoraphobia,her attentionand concentrationwere in tact, as was her memory, and her speech

was clear. (Tr. 21.) He remarkedthat her difficulties with complex tasksshould improve with
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continuedtreatment. (Tr. 21.) Moreover,as notedby the AU, Dr. Hardingmadean additional,

separateRFC analysisin which he found that Plaintiff was in fact ableto follow, understand,and

carry out simple instructionsandperformsimpletasks. (Tr. 22.) Therefore,the AU’s findings

regarding Plaintiff’s mental impairments were supportedby substantial evidence and are

accordinglyaffirmed,4

Finally. Plaintiff assertsthat the RFC “must be describedin terms of specific work

limitations and/orcapabilitieson a ‘function by functionbasis.” (Pl.’s Br. 16.) Plaintiff argues

that the AU did not conducta “task by task” analysisor a pain evaluation. (Pl.’s Br. 16.) The

Court finds that this argumenthasno merit. The AU supportedhis findings, consideredeachof

Plaintiff’s impairmentsand complaints,and provided a thoroughand detailed analysisof the

record. (seeTr. 19-24.) The AU consideredeachof Plaintiff’s impairmentsin the contextof

herprior employmentandsufficiently explainedhis findings. (jç) Further,the Court notesthat

the AU is only requiredto sufficiently develop the record in order to provide a meaningful

review and is not required “to use particular languageor adhereto a particular format in

conductinghis analysis.” Jonesv. Barnhart, 364 F.3d 501, 505 (3d Cir. 2004). Here, as

discussed,the AU developedthe recordand supportedhis findings regardingPlaintiff’s RFC.

As such,the Court finds that the AU’s RFC determinationis supportedby substantialevidence

andis thereforeaffirmed.

5, The AL! Correctly Determined That Plaintff’ Was Able to Peijörm Past
RelevantWork.

The Plaintiff is accuratein assertingthat the StateagencyconsultativepsychologistDr. Hardingassessedthat Plaintiff had mild restriction of activities of daily living and moderatedifficulties in maintaining socialfunctioningand in maintainingconcentration,persistenceor pace. (Tr. 320.) However,thesespecific findings werein relation to Dr. Harding’s assessmentof claimant’s disorderswith respectto the listed impairmentsin sections12.04and 12.09,pursuantto stepthreeof the sequentialanalysis,not partof his RFC assessment.(Tr. 306-08.)

25



Plaintiff arguesthat the AU incorrectly concludedthat she was able to perform past

relevantwork. Plaintiff claims that sheis incapableof performingherpastjob as a “cashierfor

the Home Depot.” (Pl.’s Br. 11.) In particular, Plaintiff contendsthat basedon the AU’s

finding that the Plaintiff could returnto a cashierposition,not specificallyto a cashierpositionat

the Home Depot, the AU shouldhavemovedon to step five of the analysis. (Pl.’s Br. 11, 12.)

Plaintiff claims that she could not stand for an eight hour shift and that the impairment she

suffersin herright armwould precludeher from beinga cashier. (Pl.’s Br. 11-12.)

At step four, Plaintiff is requiredto show that sheis unableto performher pastrelevant

work both as she has performedit in her specific job and as it is generallyperformedin the

national economy. See42 U.S.C. § 1382c(a)(3)(B);20 C.F.R. § 416.920(f),416.960(b);SSR

82-61, 1982 WL 31387. “Under sections404.1520(e)and 416.920(e)of the regulations,a

claimantwill be found to be ‘not disabled’ when it is determinedthat he or sheretainsthe RFC

to perform: (I) [t]he actualfunctionaldemandsandjob dutiesof a particularpastrelevantjob; or

(2) [tjhe functionaldemandsandjob dutiesof the occupationas generallyrequiredby employees

throughoutthenationaleconomy.” 5SR82-61, 1982WU 31387,at *2. “[I]f the claimantcannot

performthe excessivefunction demandsand/orjob dutiesactuallyrequiredin the formerjob but

can perform the functional demands and job duties as generally required by employers

throughoutthe economy,the claimantshouldbe found to be ‘not disabled,” SSR82-61, 1982

WL 3137,at *2,

At the June4, 2010 hearingbeforethe AU. a vocationalexpert testified that basedon a

hypotheticalthat incorporatedall the limitations consideredin the AU’ s RFC assessment,the

Plaintiff could performwork as a cashier. Tr. 457-58. Becausethe hypotheticalincorporatedall

of the limitations in Plaintiffs RFC, which as previouslydiscussedis supportedby substantial
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evidence, the AU properly relied on the vocational expert’s testimony that Plaintiff could

performherpastrelevantwork as a cashieras it is generallyperformedin the nationaleconomy.

See Diaz v. Comm’r of Soc. Sec., 440 F. App’x 70. 72-73 (3d Cir. 2011). Therefore, the

Plaintiff failed to meether burdenof showing that she could not perform the job duties for a

cashier,as theyarerequiredthroughoutthe nationaleconomy.

While the AU inquired of the vocational expert regarding additional limitations

including infrequentuseof Plaintiff’s right arm andhand,andthe potentialsit/standoptions for

cashiers,theselimitations wereultimatelynot incorporatedinto theAU’s RFC assessment.(See

Tr. 459.) Becausethe AU’s final RFC determinationis supportedby substantialevidenceand

the AU relied on the vocationalexpert’stestimonyregardingPlaintiff’s ability to performwork

as a cashieras it is generallyperformedin thenationaleconomy,theAU ‘s decisionis affirmed.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoingreasons,the AU’s decisionthat Plaintiff was not disabledwithin the

meaningof the Social SecurityAct prior to January1, 2010, is herebyaffirmed. An appropriate

Orderaccompaniesthis Opinion.

Dated: June27,2013
1
/ ‘2’ “

HON. CLAIRE C. CECCHI
United StatesDistrict Judge
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